DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
DOCKET NO. 18-0445

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,
PLAINTIFF BELOW,

RESPONDENT

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by instructing the jury, “The criminal history of the defendant shows evidence of misconduct of motive, personal gain, proof of a deliberate manner, proven malice and pre-meditation,” where the Court admitted evidence that the defendant had been convicted of murder and armed robbery in a prior case. Appendix @ 1224.
 - A) The instruction told the jury that prior bad act evidence “shows” evidence as to elements of the crime charged in this trial – the EXACT OPPOSITE of the limiting instruction required under 404(b) case law with respect to collateral crime evidence.
 - B) The “limiting” instruction was erroneous under State v. McGinnis, 455 S.E.2d 516, 193 W.Va. 147 (1994), and State v. McFarland, 721 S.E.2d 62, 228 W.Va. 492 (2011), because it listed multiple uses for the collateral crime evidence instead of a specific use, and because it improperly instructed that the evidence showed malice and premeditation.
2. The trial court erred by admitting collateral crime evidence of defendant’s prior conviction for murder where evidence of that conviction did not serve the 404(b) specific purpose for which it was allegedly offered during the McGinnis hearing, that of “*modus operandi*,” where the collateral offense was extremely dissimilar to the offense on trial.

- A) The trial court failed to appreciate how dissimilar the collateral crime and the charge on trial were, substituting for that analysis the reasoning “. . . that depravity of respect for human life is of such a nature that the court has no alternative but to grant the motion [to admit].” Appendix @ 296. The two cases were so different that no 404(b) use for the evidence was legitimate.
 - B) The trial court completely failed to make a Rule 403 analysis as part of the McGinnis analysis. Even assuming the other murder conviction was somehow relevant the specific purpose offered, that of *modus operandi*, its prejudicial effect greatly outweighed any scant probative value it could have had on *modus operandi*. The record is absolutely silent as to the trial court’s 403 analysis because there was no analysis.
 - C) A read of the transcript from the moment of introduction of Defendant’s “Bo Butler” murder and armed robbery conviction demonstrates that the improper admission of the collateral crime evidence created a trial within a trial.
3. The trial court erred by not granting a mistrial AND by not giving any limiting instruction where the prosecution offered evidence that Defendant had refused a polygraph examination.
- A) The polygraph evidence was part of a recorded statement of the Defendant which the prosecution and defense had agreed to redact to remove the polygraph evidence. The prosecution did not obtain the redaction in time to provide it to

defense before the morning it was offered into evidence. The Court did not want to allow the defense to listen to the audio to be sure of the redactions. The prosecution stated that the State would “bear the risk” in case improper evidence was admitted, and the defense specifically did not waive objections. The Court allowed the audio and did not grant a mistrial or give a curative instruction.

4. The cumulative effect of errors 1 through 3 rendered the trial unfair to defendant. Error 1 instructed that Defendant’s criminal history showed elements of this offense, Error 2 admitted the evidence of a completely-unrelated collateral crime, and Error 3 left the implication that arises naturally from a polygraph refusal, which is of something to hide.
5. The Court erred by admitting almost every piece of physical evidence and all of the testing, reports, and expert opinions arising therefrom because the prosecution could not establish the chain of custody because the evidence custodian was not at trial, having been deployed in military service at the time of trial.
6. The Court erred by not granting the Defendant’s motion to dismiss for violation of speedy trial rights where at least three full terms of court had expired, not counting the term of indictment, without trial and without charge to the defendant, and further that defendant’s motion for speedy trial was not honored once the same was filed.

7. The Court erred in giving an instruction to the jury on first-degree murder and erred in not setting aside the verdict due to insufficiency of evidence to support the *mens rea* elements of first-degree murder.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Teresa Ford's lifestyle and disappearance

On May 13, 2013, Teresa Ford disappeared. Facts known about that day are that she bought and used cocaine with an ex-boyfriend, William Cottle; that she had angered a man in an illicit drug-related theft she committed to the extent that William Cottle sent messages trying to warn her to stay away from Lashmeet, WV (where that man lived); and that she was using a stolen cell phone in May of 2013. She was getting hundreds of Oxycontin pills per month by prescription, and she had by May 8th already spent all the welfare money on her EBT card for the entire month, largely at convenience stores. According to William Cottle, she often spent most of her money for drugs, and she frequently stole to get drugs.

2. Discovery of Teresa Ford's remains

On April 10, 2014, skeletal remains were found on property adjacent to a 29-acre plot which belonged to defendant's sister. Oscar Combs, Sr., had resided in a house at the other end of the 29-acre plot. Junior Combs had worked on cars there. Junior and his girlfriend's father-in-law had dumped refuse and ashes from home demolitions near the location of the skeletal remains. The remains were found at the same location where approximately one dozen police and a backhoe operator had searched in November of 2013 without making any findings. Oscar Combs, Sr., had been incarcerated since November 13, 2013 and was never at the 29-acre plot

between November of 2013 and April of 2014.

3. Cell phone messages and the sale of a van, signed title

Cell phone messages of May 11, 2013 showed that Teresa Ford asked Defendant to buy her van from her. William Cottle said Teresa was going to use the money for past-due rent. William Cottle and Teresa Ford went to the DMV and got a duplicate title so she could sell the van, which DMV records show she bought for \$500. The title was signed by Teresa Ford as seller. The defendant openly drove the van in public for weeks without any effort to hide or disguise it. He bought a CV axle to repair the van, and although he did not register title in his name, he traded it in to a public used car dealer with an open title, not an unusual occurrence according to Robert Cole, owner of Autos 4 Less, where he traded it. Appendix @ 1187.

4. A mattress and DNA results

A November 2013 search of the 29-acre plot on Bud Mountain turned up a mattress inside the house with some blood on it. DNA from that blood was compared with a known DNA sample from Teresa Ford's sister, and results were reported by Kelly Beatty, MSFS, as being a 99.9999% likelihood that the mattress blood sample was the full sister of the known sample. Defendant had been dating the decedent. He recalled an instance in which Teresa Ford had cut her leg on jagged metal and bled in that back room.

5. Dr. Owsley identified Teresa Ford's remains

Following the April 10, 2014 discovery of the skeletal remains, Dr. Douglas W. Owsley,

a forensic anthropologist who works from the Smithsonian Institute, exhumed the remains and made comparison to dental records, concluding that the remains were Teresa Ford.

6. No evidence of cause of death whatsoever

One major unknown is cause of death. There was no evidence from the remains as to cause of death. The skull was intact, and Dr. Owsley agreed that Teresa Ford had not been shot in the head, the significance of which is discussed below. There is no known cause of death. Could have been an injury, an illness, an overdose, or any number of things. Admittedly, the shallow grave implies an effort by someone either to hide her body or to plant her body there to be found.

7. No direct evidence of who killed Teresa Ford, if anyone did

While the prosecution's biggest problem with the case was cause of death, there really was no direct evidence that Defendant even killed her – or if he did, why. There wasn't even any evidence that she was killed. There was evidence that her body was disposed of in a shallow grave and whatever reasonable implications might arise from that, but there was nothing direct as to the nature of her death, and certainly not of the identity of anyone who might have harmed her.

8. ZERO evidence of premeditation, planning, lying in wait, or poison – or even intent

There was absolutely no evidence of intent. The prosecution could not supply an answer to the question, "Why was Teresa Ford dead?" If Defendant killed her, why? They had dated. She sold him a van. There was no reason.

9. Defendant had previously been convicted of a very different murder

Defendant had been convicted of a different murder previously. He and his son were both charged with murder and armed robbery of a man named Bo Butler. Defendant was tried and convicted in Mercer County for those crimes. According to the evidence which led to conviction in Mercer County, the Bo Butler murder took place with an accomplice, beside a main highway, in an execution-style shot to the back of the head, with pre-planning, to steal his payday, and his body was dumped (not buried) over a hillside, and the defendant and his son hid Mr. Butler's truck – even repainting it with rollers to avoid its detection until they could get rid of it in pieces at salvage yards. Nothing about the Bo Butler murder was similar to the case on trial. There is a chart in this brief demonstrating all the differences.

10. Then came the error: first, collateral crime evidence

The prosecution gave notice of intent to use that conviction, pursuant to Rule 404(b), to show *modus operandi*, but that made little sense because there was absolutely nothing about the two alleged crimes which was so similar as to establish Defendant's identity by the signature method in which crimes were committed. The argument within this brief sets forth a chart demonstrating just how different the two events were.

The defense objected to the admission of that collateral crime evidence. The Court erroneously admitted it, without even paying lip service to a 403 prejudice analysis, and the Court compounded the error by delivering an erroneous instruction right before the admission of the Bo Butler murder evidence which instructed the jury that evidence of defendant's criminal history showed planning, malice and premeditation, all elements of the offense of murder in the

first degree, and clearly an improper use of 404(b) evidence. Appendix @ 1224.

The defense objected at the McGinnis hearing, at the opening of the trial, and when the evidence was offered, all to no avail.

11. The Court's improper instruction

The Court's instruction concerning the use of 404(b) evidence said the following:

"Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I'm going to give you what is called a limited [sic] instruction. The State of West Virginia will be introducing 404(b) evidence (conviction of crimes in Mercer County, WV) against the Defendant Oscar Ross Combs, Sr. This evidence will not be used by the State to prove that the Defendant Oscar Ross Combs, Sr. is guilty of 1st degree Murder for which he is on trial for here in Wyoming County and that this evidence cannot be used to show conformity to character evidence.

This evidence can only be considered as being relevant on a noncharacter (sic) theory and that uncharged misconduct evidence 'be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive and intent,' The criminal history of the defendant shows evidence of misconduct of motive, personal gain, proof of a deliberate manner, proven malice and pre-meditation."

Appendix at 3347.

The Court entered the instruction as Court Exhibit 1. It was drafted by the State and was given over the objection of Defendant, who objected to the admission of the evidence of the prior murder and robbery conviction. The prosecutor claimed the authority for the language of the instruction was State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147 (1994), but the instruction given in this trial

(quoted above) is NOT the instruction required by McGinnis at all. Not even close.

12. The polygraph examination

The prosecutor played an audio file to the jury of a statement taken and recorded from the defendant. The original recording had been provided in discovery. That recording included reference to a polygraph examination. The defendant, in the recording, told the officer that he was supposed to take a polygraph and had gone to take the polygraph exam but left without taking it. The defense met before trial with the prosecution, and they agreed to redact the reference to the polygraph and defendant's refusal to take the polygraph. The prosecutor did not obtain a redaction until the night before the State intended to play the recording to the jury. At trial, the Court did not allow the defense, who had not been given a copy of the redacted version of the statement, to listen to ensure that redactions were proper. The defense warned on the record that the audio recording could contain inadmissible evidence that could bring the trial to a screeching halt. The prosecuting attorney said that he would take the risk rather than wait for the defense to hear the recording. The Court accepted that. At 1:08 of the recording (see Appendix 3350), the defendant is heard to say that he was going to meet an officer to take a polygraph but got there and refused to take the polygraph. The defense moved for a mistrial. The Court denied the request and did not give a curative instruction. So, the jury heard that Defendant had a polygraph scheduled and refused to take the polygraph exam.

13. The missing link: no chain of evidence

The trooper who was responsible for the evidence locker, and whose testimony was necessary to establish the chain of evidence to nearly all evidence and especially all DNA

evidence, was not at trial. He was deployed in military service. The prosecution did not make arrangements to preserve his testimony by deposition or in any other way. He was available during many of the terms of court that passed without a trial.

14. Violation of speedy trial

The defendant was indicted on May 4, 2015, which was the May 2015 term. The prosecution moved to continue the trial to accommodate its scheduling and witness schedules from time to time, but without written motion.

The file reflects agreed or defense chargeable continuances in the February 2016 term.

A total of five (5) terms passed without entry of documents or orders reflecting a continuance chargeable to the defense.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court gave an improper 404(b) instruction during the trial, immediately before the Circuit Clerk of Mercer County read a criminal judgment into the record. The instruction told the jury that “the criminal history of the defendant shows evidence of misconduct of motive, personal gain, proof of a deliberate manner, proven malice and pre-meditation.” Appendix @ 1224. In essence, the trial court instructed the jury that deliberate action, malice, and pre-meditation were proven by the defendant’s criminal history and then allowed a witness to read defendant’s judgment order into the record, which revealed a conviction for first-degree murder and armed robbery and the sentence, which was life without mercy and 80 years, consecutive.

The Court erred terribly in admitting the collateral crime evidence of a prior murder

conviction and armed robbery conviction. The circumstances were not remotely similar except they were both murder cases and each victim had a vehicle (no surprise in the modern world). The prosecution failed in its notice to specify a specific use for which the collateral crime evidence would be offered. The prosecution, when pressed for a reason at the 404(b) hearing, stated it was for *modus operandi*, which makes no sense because the circumstances were so dissimilar. The Court failed to make the analysis prescribed in McGinnis and completely failed to conduct the 403 prejudice analysis. The Court's eventual instructions did not limit the use of the evidence to *modus operandi* and did not limit to a specific purpose. The collateral crime evidence was not relevant to any 404(b) use, and the evidence was completely dissimilar to the case on trial. Much as in McFarland, the prosecution put the cart in front of the horse using the Bo Butler murder evidence to fill in gaps in its case at trial rather than as support for evidence at trial.

IV. STATEMENT AS TO ARGUMENT

Appellant asserts that the issues presented herein are well settled under current law, but due to the numerous assertions of error and the extreme prejudice brought on by the admission of evidence of a prior murder conviction coupled with improper instructions to the jury immediately preceding the admission of that evidence, the decision process would be aided by a Rule 19 argument. Although criminal trial integrity and fairness are fundamental public issues, a Rule 19 argument is believed to be sufficient in this matter. In the event an oral argument is awarded, the appellant wishes to participate therein through counsel.

V. ARGUMENT

1. The Trial Court improperly admitted collateral crime evidence, and where there should have been a limiting instruction indicating that the evidence of a collateral crime is not to be considered as proof of the defendant's guilt in the case on trial, State v. McGinnis, 455 S.E.2d 516, 193 W.Va. 147 (1994), instead instructed that the defendant's criminal history was proof of malice and pre-meditation, elements of the crime charged.

"The specific and precise purpose for which the evidence is offered must be clearly shown from the record and that purpose alone must be told to the jury in the trial court's instruction." *Id.* Syl, Pt. 1 (in part).

The Court instead instructed that the evidence of the prior murder conviction was admissible for "other purposes, such as proof of motive and intent" (Court Exhibit, App @ 3347), and "That the criminal history of the defendant shows evidence of misconduct of motive, personal gain, proof of a deliberate manner, proven malice and pre-meditation." *Id.*

Clearly, this instruction does not define a "specific and precise purpose" as required by McGinnis. In fact, it is hard to decipher what purpose the Court was directing the jury to consider, and the prosecution identified its purpose at the 404(b) hearing as *modus operandi* (a form of identification evidence), which purpose does not even appear in the instruction, nor does it appear in the general charge.

The last sentence of Court Ex. 1, the limiting instruction seems to direct that a person's criminal history is relevant to prove malice and pre-meditation. This is clearly wrong. In State v. McFarland, the Supreme Court noted " . . the purpose of Rule 404(b) is to 'to prevent the

conviction of a defendant for one crime by use of evidence tending to show that he engaged in other legally unconnected criminal acts . . . “ 721 S.E.2d 62, 71, 228 W.Va 492 (2011)(quoting State v. Simmons, 337 S.E.2d 314, 315, 175 W.Va. 565, 657 (1985).

The Court instructed the jury that Defendant’s criminal history showed proof of elements of this crime, and that instruction was immediately followed by testimony from Julie Ball, the Mercer County Circuit Clerk, who read the judgment order of Defendant’s conviction into evidence as follows:

“It is ordered that Oscar Ross Combs, Sr. be taken from the bar of this court to the penitentiary of this state and therein confined for the remainder of his natural life without possibility of parole as provided by law for the offense of Murder in the First Degree as the state in Count I of this indictment herein hath alleged and by the jury hath found; that he be further confined for the determinate term of 80 years as provided by law for the first offense ah . . . or ah . . . I’m sorry - - provided by law for the offense of Robbery, First Degree as the state in Count II of its Indictment herein hath alleged and by a jury hath found; and for the indeterminate term of not less than one nor more than 5 years as provided by law for the offense of Conspiracy as the state in Count III of its Indictment herein hath alleged and by the jury hath found; that these three sentences run consecutively with one another; that the defendant be given credit for 450 days on said sentence for which he has served in jail; and that he be otherwise dealt with in accordance with the rules and regulations of that institution and the laws of the State of West Virginia.

It is further ordered that the defendant pay all Court costs in this matter.

Thereupon the Court advised the defendant of his right to appeal said conviction and

appoints E. Ward Morgan and Colin Cline as counsel for appeal purposes, and that the court reporter prepare transcripts of the court proceedings. And the defendant is remanded to the Southern Region [sic] Jail.”

Appendix at 1227-28.

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