IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 18-0445

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Plaintiff below, Respondent

V

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Wyoming County (Case No. 15-F-56)

OSCAR ROSS COMBS, SR.,

Defendant below, Petitioner.



BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS T. LAMPMAN ZACHARY A. VIGLIANCO ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL

State Capitol Complex
Building 1, Room 26E
Charleston, West Virginia 25305
Email: Thomas.T.Lampman@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Counsel for Respondent

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

Petitioner's first and second assignments of error raise overlapping issues concerning the use of Petitioner's previous murder and robbery convictions during this trial. Petitioner raises four arguments across these assignments of error. *First*, that evidence of Petitioner's prior convictions

was not introduced for a proper purpose. Pet'r Br 17-20, 24. Second, that the evidence of Petitioner's prior convictions was unfairly prejudicial. Pet'r Br. 20-24. Third, that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that Petitioner's prior bad acts could be considered proof of "premeditation." Pet'r Br. 12-13, 25. Fourth, that the trial court erred in not identifying a sufficiently specific purpose for which Petitioner's prior bad acts could be considered. Pet'r Br. 13-14, 25. Because each of these claims related to 404(b) evidence, they are addressed in unision. As discussed in more detail below, the evidence introduced satisfied the standards articulated by Rule 404 and this Court's associated jurisprudence, and thus Petitioner cannot overcome the presumption that he was shielded from undue prejudice by Rule 404's proper application.

A. Petitioner's prior convictions were relevant for demonstrating motive, intent, and premeditation

Petitioner argues that his prior conviction was not admitted for any proper purpose under Rule 404(b). Pet'r Br. 17-20. This argument centers on the fact that the murder and robbery Petitioner was convicted of did not share an identifying *modus oprendi* with the facts presented here. *Id.* Petitioner's argument simply ignores the other permissible uses of collateral crime evidence, including demonstrating motive, intent, and premeditation. Petitioner's conviction was relevant to these issues, and thus that conviction spoke to a permissible issue under Rule 404(b). The trial court's identification of relevant permissible purposes is reviewed *de novo. State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 310, 470 S.E.2d 613, 629 (1996).

Rule 404(b) expreslly permits the use of prior convictions to show "motive" and "intent". W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b)(2). Further, this Court has treated "premeditation" as a derivative form of "intent." *LaRock* at 311, 470 S.E.2d at 630 ("The prosecutor sought to demonstrate the defendant's intent (premeditation)."). Insofar as Rule 404(b) relates to evidence of a "plan," it would by

definition encompass evidence of premeditation. Premeditated, Black's Law Dictionary 1371 (10th ed. 2014) ("Done with willful deliberation and planning.").

A "plan" relates to an element at issue for purposes of 404(b) where the plan suggests a motive for the underlying offense. State v. McFarland, 228 W. Va. 492, 502–03, 721 S.E.2d 62, 72–73 (2011). A "common scheme or plan" exists where the defendant has an underlying goal that is advanced, but not directly accomplished, by committing the charged offense. Id. For example, past convictions for sexual assault do not demonstrate a "plan" to commit sexual assault, although a distinctive method of committing the offense could be relevant to demonstrating modus oprendi. Id. However, prior instances of "kidnapping or murder" constitute a common plan if connected by an "underlying motive [] to obtain some sexual favor." Id. (quoting State v. Dolin, 176 W.Va. 688, 697, 347 S.E.2d 208, 217 (1986)).

Here, evidence of Petitioner's conviction for the robbery and murder of Butler was directly relevant to establishing the motive for, intent to commit, and premeditation of, the murder of Ford. As the State noted in the pre-trial *McGinnis* hearing and again at trial, the State's theory of the case was that Ford's murder was "done for the purposes of robbery," with "intent here the same as [in the Butler case]." App. 290. *See also* App. 1220 (arguing both crimes were committed for a "similar motive."). As described in *McFarland*, the Butler case demonstrated that Petitioner has a goal that he advances by committing murder: profit, either by obtaining Ford's van for free or taking Butler's money. App. 1236, 1241. Moreover, both cases present similar, if not distinctive, methodologies. In both cases, Petitioner met an acquaintance in an isolated area under the guise of conducting a secondhand transaction, then proceeded to murder and rob them. App 1221, 1241, 1288. As to similarity in time, Butler was murdered in 2011 and Ford disappeared in 2013. App. 557-58, 1263-64. Indeed, the offenses occurred so close in time that the law enforcement

investigations overlapped, such that Ford's blood was discovered in Petitioner's bedroom during the course of the Butler investigation. App. 268-69.

B. Petitioner's prior convictions were probative and not unduly prejudicial

Petitioner argues that introducing evidence of his conviction for the murder and robbery of Butler unfairly prejudiced the jury against him. Pet'r Br. 20-24. "The balancing of probative value against unfair prejudice is weighed in favor of admissibility and rulings thereon are reviewed only for an abuse of discretion." LaRock, 196 W. Va. at 312, 470 S.E.2d at 631 (citations omitted). See also State v. Winebarger, 217 W. Va. 117, 123, 617 S.E.2d 467, 473 (2005) ("The Rule 403 balancing test is essentially a matter of trial conduct, and the trial court's discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." (citations omitted)). This Court has deferred to a trial court's determination where the prior criminal act "involves the same type of conduct and occurred during the same time frame and in the same location and circumstances as the offense charged." LaRock, at 312, 470 S.E.2d at 631. The trial court noted such similarity here. App. 295. Accordingly, this determination was not an abuse of discretion, and should not be reversed.

C. The trial court did not err in instructing the jury that 404(b) evidence could show premeditation

Petitioner argues first that that the court was "clearly wrong" to instruct the jury that prior bad acts can be used to show premeditation. Pet'r Br. 12. "The legal propriety or correctness of a jury instruction is a question of law that we review de novo." *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 308, 470 S.E.2d at 627.

This argument is itself "clearly wrong." Rule 404(b) expressly allows the use of prior criminal acts to demonstrate a "plan." W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b)(2). See also Premeditated, Black's Law Dictionary 1371 (10th ed. 2014) ("Done with willful deliberation and planning."). Similarly,

this Court has directly equated proof of "intent" with "premeditation." LaRock, at 311, 470 S.E.2d at 630 (evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts may "demonstrate the defendant's intent (premeditation) and malice."). Indeed, in LaRock the defendant's prior acts of violence towards his children were introduced under Rule 404(b) specifically to satisfy the premeditation element of a first degree murder charge, the same purpose Petitioner claims is forbidden. Id. See also Pet'r Br. 12. Thus, Petitioner's argument is flatly contradicted by LaRock.

D. The trial court described the permissible uses of 404(b) evidence with sufficient specificity.

Petitioner's final argument regarding Rule 404(b) fails to justify reversal of the judgment below for two reasons: (1) the instructions in this case were sufficiently specific, and (2) even if they were not specific it is clear from the record what purpose the convictions were introduced for. rendering any flaw in the instructions harmless error. In criminal trials, "[i]t is not sufficient for the prosecution or the trial court merely to cite or mention the litany of possible uses listed in Rule 404(b)," as "[t]he specific and precise purpose for which the evidence is offered must clearly be shown from the record and that purpose alone must be told to the jury in the trial court's instruction." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 147, 151, 455 S.E.2d 516, 520 (1994). However, evidence of prior bad acts may be introduced under Rule 404(b) for more than one permitted use. See, e.g., State v. McIntosh, 207 W. Va. 561, 574, 534 S.E.2d 757, 770 (2000) (affirming use of 404(b) evidence to show "intent, motive, malice, common scheme, plan, and the absence of accident." (emphasis added)). See also State v. Spinks, 239 W. Va. 588, 608, 803 S.E.2d 558, 578 (2017) (affirming use of 404(b) evidence to show "motive and intent" (emphasis added)); State v. Winebarger, 217 W. Va. 117, 124, 617 S.E.2d 467, 474 (2005) (affirming use of 404(b) evidence "for the purpose of showing absence of mistake or accident and, also, to show intent." (emphasis added)); State v. Edward Charles L., 183 W. Va. 641, 649, 398 S.E.2d 123, 131

(1990) (affirming use of 404(b) evidence that "not only showed lascivious intent... to commit the crimes charged, but also that the acts did not occur accidentally." (emphasis added)).

Here, the trial court's instructions did not merely regurgitate "the litany of possible uses listed in Rule 404(b)." Syl. Pt. 1, *McGinnis* at. 147, 151, 455 S.E.2d at 520. Of the nine uses expressly set forth in Rule 404(b), the instructions given before jury deliberations began referred to only three: intent, motive, and plan. App. 1527. The instruction given before a witness testified pursuant to Rule 404(b) was similarly limited, but included a reference to "malice and premeditation." App. 1224. However, as noted in *LaRock*, "premeditation" is included within the concept of "intent," making the addition of "premeditation" merely repetitive rather than suggestive of an irrelevant use. *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 311, 470 S.E.2d at 630. Thus the jury was presented with four potential uses of 404(b) evidence, and this Court's jurisprudence demonstrates that no error has occurred when the State identifies that number of purposes. *See McIntosh*, 207 W. Va. at 574, 534 S.E.2d at 770 (affirming use of 404(b) evidence for five distinct purposes).

Moreover, even where a trial court "fails to articulate precisely" the purpose for admitting 404(b) evidence, such failure is "harmless error" where "the purpose for admitting the evidence is apparent from the record and its admission is proper." *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 312, 470 S.E.2d at 631. Petitioner challenges the propriety of admitting the 404(b) evidence in question in a separate assignment of error. This argument fails, as the prior criminal act addressed in Petitioner's trial presented another example of the same intent, motive, and plan as was at issue in this case: Petitioner would set up a meeting with an acquaintance, purportedly to conduct a secondhand sales transaction, then murder said acquaintance in order to take the benefit of the bargain for himself. *See* Section I.A, *supra*. The testimony of Trooper Reed conveys the mechanics of this plan in what amounts to only nine pages of trial testimony. App. 1234-243. Thus, it is apparent from the

record that Petitioner had a common scheme or plan that was demonstrated through the facts underlying his prior convictions.

II. The Passing Reference To A Polygraph Examination Did Not Entitle Petitioner To A Mistrial.

Petitioner's third assignment of error argues that a one-sentence statement by Petitioner regarding a polygraph exam, which was in no way referenced by the State in testimony or any statement to the jury, requires a mistrial. Pet'r Br. 25-30. This simplistic approach is out of step with this Court's nuanced analysis of polygraph-related statements. Motions for mistrial are within the discretion of the trial court, and reversal is warranted only where such statements "clearly prejudice the accused or result in manifest injustice." *Harrison v. Ballard*, No. 16-0165, 2017 WL 5514376, at *6 (W. Va. Nov. 17, 2017) (memorandum decision) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Sugg*, 193 W.Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). Accordingly, this assignment of error should be rejected.

"Reference to an offer or refusal by a defendant to take a polygraph test is inadmissible in criminal trials to the same extent that polygraph results are inadmissible." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Chambers, 194 W.Va. 1, 459 S.E.2d 112 (1995). However, "a mistrial should not be automatically granted when mention of a polygraph is made." State v. George J., No. 13-0132, 2013 WL 5967012, at *3 (W. Va. Nov. 8, 2013) (memorandum decision) (citing State v. Lewis, 207 W.Va. 544, 548, 534 S.E.2d 740, 744 (2000)). Rather, where remarks by the State draw attention to a defendant's refusal to take a polygraph, a "judgment of conviction will not be set aside" unless "the remarks 'so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Harrison, 2017 WL 5514376, at *6 (quoting Sugg at Syl. Pt. 5; id. at 405, 456 S.E.2d. at 486). This Court considers four factors when considering the impact of such statements:

⁽¹⁾ the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) whether the remarks were isolated or extensive; (3) absent the remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to

establish the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters.

Id. at *7 (quotations omitted).

This Court has focused on the second factor and affirmed the denial of mistrials where the remarks in question are particularly isolated. For example, in *Harrison* the State introduced a recording of the petitioner agreeing to participate in a polygraph exam which he "never ultimately participated in." *Id.* at *6. The State also made a reference to polygraphs in a "few improper statements" during closing statements. *Id.* This Court compared the small number of remarks against the volume of the 58-page closing statement and held the remarks were "unquestionably isolated," which "this Court usually deems . . . to be harmless." *Id.* Moreover, this Court rejected a similar challenge where a recording played at trial contained only "a vague offer to take [a polygraph] made by petitioner." *George J.*, 2013 WL 5967012, at *3.

Here, the 90-minute interview recording played at trial contained Petitioner's statement that he "went... to do a polygraph test, and that guy down there got hateful with me and I walked out the door." Pet'r Br. 27. See also App. 3350 (at 1:08). The State did not allude to this remark in closing, nor did any witness testimony refer to it in any way. This singular statement is just as isolated as the statement in George J., and unquestionably more isolated than the multiple statements in Harrison. Moreover, Petitioner's statement indicated willingness to take a polygraph, even though no test was ultimately administered. Id. See also App. 674-75. This same type of statement was before this Court in Harrison, and no prejudice to the defendant was identified in that case. Harrison, 2017 WL 5514376, at *6-7. Thus, this Court should reach the same result and affirm the conviction below.

It is true that in both *Harrison* and *George J.*, curative instructions were given to the jury regarding the inadmissibility of polygraph evidence. *Harrison*, 2017 WL 5514376, at *7; *George J.*, 2013 WL 5967012, at *5. Here, however, defense counsel did not "object[] and ask[] for a curative," but simply "ask[ed] for a mistrial." App. 675. *See also* App. 672 (defense counsel insisting that "we have to miss try [sic] this case."). In light of the isolated and non-prejudicial nature of Petitioner's single comment, coupled with defense counsel's decision to immediately move for a mistrial rather than explore a curative instruction, the trial court was well within its discretion to deny the motion. Accordingly, its decision should not be reversed, and this assignment of error should be rejected.

III. Petitioner Has Not Demonstrated Any Error On Assignments Of Error 1-3, And Thus Cannot Make A Claim Of Cumulative Error.

Petitioner's fourth assignment of error is an invocation of the doctrine of "cumulative error" first endorsed by this court in *State v. Smith*, 156 W. Va. 385, 193 S.E.2d 550 (1972). Petitioner raises this claim only with respect to assignments of error one, two, and three—those relating to Rule 404(b) and polygraph evidence. Pet'r Br. 33-35. As discussed above, these assignments of error are all without merit. At most, the trial court's directions to the jury amount to a single harmless error, and there can be no cumulative error without multiple errors. *State v. Knuckles*, 196 W. Va. 416, 425, 473 S.E.2d 131, 140 (1996). ("Cumulative error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, not the cumulative effect of non-errors."). Accordingly, in the absence of any demonstrable errors, Petitioner's claim of cumulative error must fail.

IV. Petitioner's Right To A Speedy Trial Was Not Violated Because No Continuance Granted In This Case Affected The Length Of Time Petitioner Was Detained Prior To Trial.

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